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EARLY HISTORY AND ANTIQUITIES.

HE History of Peeblesshire, as far as it can be told, may
properly begin with the Roman invasion of the northern

part of Britain, at which period the country was occupied

by a people of the same Celtic stock as those who inhabited
the southern division of the island as well as Gaul. This people
are now ordinarily spoken of as Britons, but the Romans gave
them the general name, Caledonii—meaning, it is supposed,
‘dwellers in woods,’ and further particularised the northern
tribes, twenty-one in number, by special designations. The tribe
of Caledonians occupying what we now call Tweeddale were
styled by them the Gadeni ; two of the tribes who more imme-
diately adjoined them being the Ottadini on the east and north,
and the Selgove on the west. The Gadeni, to call them so,
were pagans, and barbarous in manners. They depended mainly
on hunting and the pasturage of cattle for subsistence, dwelt
in movable tents or shielings composed of turf, twigs, and the
skins of wild animals, and were probably unacquainted, in the
earlier part of their history, with implements of metal. Their
hammers and their hatchets were chiefly of stone, and with these
they constructed their dwellings, and fought in their savage
encounters. When their chiefs were slain in battle, or died
after a life of heroic exertion, it was customary to bury them
with their war hammers and axes—a practice which survived


















24 HISTORY OF PEEBLESSHIRE.

constructed. After glancing at a few historical facts, we shall
submit an account of their actual appearance.

The Roman invasion, in the first century of our era, must
doubtless have produced a convulsive movement in the country
bordering on the Tweed and its tributaries. Accustomed as the
Gadeni were to warlike alarms, they could not fail to be startled
with rumours of the conquests of Agricola and his well-disciplined
legionaries ; for already, Nithsdale, Annandale, and Clydesdale
had been reached by this strangely-powerful host of foreigners;
and we can well understand how the natives should have betaken
themselves, with their families and goods, to intrenchments on
the tops of the hills, with the hope of resisting the invaders.
Nor was this heroism altogether unavailing, for, as is known, the
Celtic tribes in the south of Scotland, though unable to prevent
the Romans from planting military posts, gave them no little
trouble during the whole of their stay. What concerns us here,
however, is the nature of this foreign occupation in Peeblesshire.

Passing through the country by way of Biggar, the Romans
seem to have detached a force eastwards to Tweeddale, where
they found a site every way suitable for a strong permanent
encampment. This was the broad summit of a knoll skirted on
the west and south by the Lyne, easy of access, yet defensible, not
readily overlooked, and with the advantage of being near to water.!
On this favourable spot they constructed one of their castra
stativa, the remains of which attest the strength and importance
of the post. There is reason to suppose that this camp on the
Lyne may have been formed some time between the years 80
and 84. What it was called is uncertain. Antiquaries hesitate
between two names—Corda and Colonia ; but it may be neither.
The distance of the camp from the Roman road through the
upper part of Clydesdale is about nine miles.

Although inferior to that at Ardoch, in Perthshire, the camp
at Lyne has been of a magnitude sufficient to convey a correct

! The camp is situated on the farm of Lyne (Earl of Wemyss, proprietor), a short
way west of Lyne church, at the distance of about five miles from Peebles, and is
accessible by a cross-road from the highway.












28 HISTORY OF PEEBLESSHIRE.

Dumbarton, comprehended the greater part of the south of
Scotland, and was only circumscribed by the settlements of the
Anglo-Saxons. To what extent the Picts were able to establish
an influence among the Romanised Britons of Strathclyde, is
unknown. :

According to the most trustworthy accounts, the residuary
Romanised Britons on the Tweed, under whatever designation
or however assisted, were put to great straits in stemming the
Anglian invasion, and for security resorted to the erection
of defensible barriers, which ultimately proved less availing than
had been the means of resistance to the Romans. A double
vallum and fosse were constructed, stretching from the high
grounds in the neighbourhood of Galashiels to the mountains of
Northumberland, and this barrier, known as the Catras/ or Picts-
work-ditch, was supported by innumerable forts, which crown
the tops of the hills in Roxburgh, Selkirk, and Peebles shires
—particularly in Peeblesshire, which, as a central mountainous
district between sea and sea, may be deemed to have been the
last and most resolutely maintained stronghold of the Gadeni.
With a knowledge of the protracted attempts to defend the
upper section of the vale of Tweed against the invading forces—
Anglian and Frisian, but it is believed also Scandinavian—which
made their attacks from the east and north, we are able to
appreciate the difficulty of assigning any particular era to the
hill-forts of the aboriginal and severely-tried inhabitants—of
which antiquities some account may now be given.

Within Peeblesshire may be reckoned upwards of fifty British
camps, all circular or oval in form, and of lesser or greater
dimensions. They are usually situated on the summits of hills
of moderate elevation ; their ordinary height being from 400 to
500 feet above the Tweed. Such elevations seem to have been
chosen in preference to higher points in the neighbourhood, as if
it were considered sufficient that the camps overlooked the
passes in the vicinity, and had the advantage of some easily
defensible ground on two or three sides. All the camps are
composed of intrenchments of earth and stones, with sunk






30 HISTORY OF PEEBLESSHIRE.,

FoRTs. PARISHES.
Hound-hill Fort, . . . . Manor.
Kerr’'s Knowe Fort, . . . Stobo.
Hog-hill Fort, . . . . "

Dreva Craig Fort, . . . "
Chester-knowes Fort, . . . Drummelzier.
Chester-lees Fort, . . . Tweedsmuir.
Hamildean-hill Fort, . . . Lyne.
Candyburn Castle Fort, . . Skirling.
Muirburn Castle Fort, . . . "
Mitchel-hill Rings, . Broughton, Glenholm, and Kilbucho.
Mill Rings, Trebetha-hill, . . " "
Helm End Fort, " "
Langlaw-hill Fort, . " "
Fort near Stirkfield, " “
Knowe Kniffling Fort, " "
Rachan-hill Fort, " "
Coomlees Fort, . . . " "
The Rings, Chester Rigs, r n
Fort on Holms Water, . . . "
Ladyurd Rings, . . . Kirkurd.
Fort south of Lochurd, . . . v

Fort north of Lochurd, . . .
Blythbank-hill Fort, . . . Linton.
Blyth-hill Fort, . . . "
Henderland-hill Fort, . . . Newlands.
Bordland Rings, . . . "
Whiteside-hill Fort, . . . "
Drochill-hill Forts (two in number), . v

The greater number of these forts are on a comparatively
small scale, consisting of two intrenchments or rings with an
intervening ditch, and embracing an area of from 150 to 200
feet in diameter. Simple in construction, and found chiefly in
the central part of the county, these lesser forts probably date,
in many instances, from a period anterior to or coeval with the
Roman invasion. The larger and more elaborate variety of hill-
encampments are, with equal probability, to be referred to that
later period when the Romanised Britons, improved in the art of
castrametation, found it necessary to employ all their skill in
defending themselves from Anglian and other foreign intruders











































































OLD NAMES AND OLD FAMILIES.

ITH the twelfth century—the great transition century
in Scotland—the settlement of distinct races terminated
in Peeblesshire. To the original British people there had,
in course of time, been added, by conquest or peaceful colonisa-
tion, Angles from the shores of the Firth of Forth, Picts who had
burst through the wall of Antoninus, Scots of Irish descent from
Argyle, immigrants of Anglo-Danish lineage, Anglo-Saxon and
Anglo-Norman chiefs introduced as feudatories of the crown,
and, last of all, as is believed, Flemings expelled by an injudi-
cious policy from England. Such was the heterogeneous mixture
of inhabitants in this small county seven hundred years ago.
Society, with many tokens of advancement, had not yet been
harmoniously blended. The Lowland Scotch variety of the
Anglo-Saxon speech, still uncouth, was only beginning to pre-
dominate. Few persons had surnames. Many were in the
condition of vileyns or serfs, and were transferred along with the
lands to which they happened to be heritably attached.

What chiefly calls for remark in a review of these early times,
is the entire disappearance of the aborigines. Sinking by an
inevitable law under the influence of men of higher mental type
and superior culture, they seem gradually to have been absorbed
in the general population, and, as a separate race, are heard of
for the last time about the end of the twelfth century. Certain





















ALEXANDER III. TILL JAMES I

URING the peaceful and prosperous reign of Alexander
III, a valuation of lands throughout the kingdom was
framed, which is still known as the ¢Old Extent’! As
regards temporal lands, there is no precise account of the method
of valuation, but the plan for valuing the spiritual lands is
well known. In 1275, Pope Gregory X. made a demand on
the Scottish clergy of a tenth of all their ecclesiastical
revenues for six years, for the relief of the Holy Land. For the
purpose of collecting the tax, he sent to Scotland the person so
famous in after-ages under the name of Bagimont (Magister
Baiamundus);' and the roll which he made up became the Extent
or rule of assessment of the lands referred to. The subject is
only mentioned here for the purpose of stating that, according to
the Old Extent, every separate piece of land in Peeblesshire, as
elsewhere, became known as being of a particular value, which
till this day attaches to it—as a ‘ten-pound land,’ a ¢ five-pound
land,’ a ‘ fifty-shilling land ’ of the Old Extent, and so on. The
entire annual valued rental of the lands in the county, according
to this Old Extent, was £1274, 18s. 64.

1 See Memorial for Thomas Cranstoun of Dewar, Esq., against Archibald Gibson,
Esq.—an exceedingly able law-paper in a Court of Session process (1816), drawn up
by the late Thomas Thomson, Deputy Lord Clerk Register, and which gives an
elaborate account of the Old Extent.












mnsicrmatvn moo Vidam Jhamlers, 3 Le Nager Seccmes
Nizwess [ .nn Zie 7ieas of e thursh zaé Xaafd the <zeper of
the Iridze itz ©aowa Iy Thedr crofessicns.  Readers may find
Jme iTosement In Tvimg TS oipaest ié Wil Spocern mames—
as Magh vt Waogh Lilex with Lihe. azd Frisich with
Frormy=n-

Eiwari L s woowz @ Rave 7isicad Teeties. and to have
Zranted tharmars lated e its rovil aste [ 1304 he assigned
2emiey with izz = 328 ither cerdizerts tr Aymer de Valence
: [z i 2ot u=-eascealie to suppose that
gatirz wers recal R:ters Bruce. styled
his {aitx=:! adherents the

T fr2edem o hoid a fair: tut the docu-
state recirds!  Ia the year in which
Brice f_’i—:':' 1324 Peebles was visited by 2is sor, Przce David,'
ten a Loy of $iX vears of aZe. whe ascended the throne as
Da.id I, ani Z:

grr-.'e.'::n nt w33

3 < whose minerity the
tv Randolch Earl of Moray.

cs ot

<f za=es = e popalar
3 er: *King David II.
¥21r 1334 assembling his
cell L with steh forces as

Derdld, sax

acss, accrrding to
. tut that rhere was
reald took the name

(35117 ~ N King. wi fared thas they a telaved v
one A0 shem who bad mee prer. crmr equal; vpor which, [
of Nartek, aod Zal in reward for Tis good services. the lands of Gosfield and other
earazes in the enunty of Fifel” It is zaformunate for this ingexi>us narrative. that there
was a2 ‘ Johan le Naper'in the manty of Peebles aad aiso a - Mathew le Naper de
Agheiek,” in the eomty of Fuorfar, both of whom aprear in the Ragmaa Roll in 1296,
five-and-twenty years befire the birth of David IL

2 The cr."'.pt:fm of names, arising from a tendency to abbreviate and t> adopt
leading sounds, is con-picuous in the follcwing instaaces, some of which occur in the
Kagman K-ii—Muntfitchet, is transformed into Muschet. Montait into Moubat or
Mowat, Vache into Veitch, Baddeby into Baptic. Vermel into Wurmel, and Grosse-
teste (Greathead) into Grozet.

* Robertson’s Index to the Charters, p. 15, No. 4.

¢ ( hamlberlain Rolls, vol L p. 62,































76 HISTORY OF PEEBLESSHIRE.

of the people from all parts of the adjacent country.to attend the
fair or festival. We may quote a few verses of this curious old
poem, only modernising the spelling. It thus begins:

¢ At Beltane, when ilk body bounds
To Peebles to the Play,
To hear the singing and the sounds,
Their solace, sooth to say.
By firth and forest forth they found,
They graithit them full gay;
God wait that wold they do that stound,
For it was their feast-day,
They said,
Of Peebles to the Play.

All the wenches of the west
Were up ere the cock crew :

For reeling there might nae man rest,
For garray! nor for glew.’?

Various places which still retain their old names in the neigh-

bourhood, are referred to as furnishing detachments of the
company :
¢ Hope-Cailye and Cardrona,
Gatherit out thick fald,
With ¢ Hey and howe, rohumbelow.”3
The young folks were full bald.
The bagpipe blew, and they out-threw
Out of the towns untald :
And sic ane schout was there amang,
When they were ower the wald,
There west,
At Pecbles to the Play.’

A tavern-scene, and .a quarrel and fight which there arose, with
some laughable circumstances, are then described :

¢ They thrang out of the door at ance,
Withouten ony reddin’ ;
Gilbert in ane gutter glayde,
He gat nae better beddin’.
There was not ane of them that day
Wad do ane other’s bidden ;
Thereby lay three-and-thritty-some,
Trunland in ane middin
Of draff,
At Peebles to the Play.’

1 Garray, preparation, dressing. 3 Glew, glee. 3 Name of a tune,
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The twenty-sixth stanza concludes the poem:

¢ By this the sun was setting fast,

And near done was the day ;

There men might hear shakin’ of chafts
When that they went their way.

Had there been mair made of this sang,
Mair should I to you say;

At Beltane, when ilk body bounds
To Peebles to the Play.’

As a literary production of a Scottish monarch in the fifteenth
century, Pecbles to the Play is, in many respects, remarkable. It
may be observed by those who examine the poem, that it is
written in the same kind of language as that of Chaucer’s
Pilgrimage to Canterbury, and contains words which, though
dropped from modern English, are still retained in the Scottish
vernacular, such as grastkit, dressed ; reddir’, allaying disorder;
chafts, jaws ; tlk, every; and so on. An allusion in the poem to
the ¢ Holy rood’ points to the veneration in which the cross of
St Nicholas was held. A fair is still held at Peebles on the
second Wednesday of May, and called Beltane Fair. As lately
as the middle of last century, it was distinguished by a horse-
race, when the magistrates gave a considerable prize. That the
term Peebles to or at the Play, popularly signified the annual
festival in the town, is apparent from the opening stanzas of
Christ Kirk on the Green, a poem, also descriptive of rural
revelries, ascribed to James V.

¢ Was ne’er in Scotland heard nor seen
Sic dancin’ nor deray,!
Neither at Falkland on the Green,
Or Peebles at the Play.’

In taking leave of the Beltane festival, it is pleasing to know
that its accomplished commentator, James I., was long retained
in grateful remembrance by the community of Peebles, as is
evidenced by their endowment to say a mass daily in the parish
church, for the soul of the royal poet, who was barbarously

murdered at Perth, 1437.

t Deray, mirthful disoider.



JAMES II. TILL JAMES VL

STABLISHED as a royal burgh, and confirmed in ancient
privileges and possessions by David II., Peebles received
a renewal of its charter from James II., who ascended the
throne in 1437 ; and it is during his reign, namely, on the 4th of
October 1456, that the records of the burgh commence, or,
more properly, it is from that date that any of them have been
preserved. Unfortunately, these records, as is not unusual with
documents of that kind, have suffered such serious damage as
in many places to be illegible, while large portions, extending
over many years, are entirely gone. Making use of the records
as far as practicable, we find a variety of particulars worthy
of being extracted, not only as illustrative of past manners, but
as significant of the legislative authority at one time exercised
in local matters by town-councils. Grouping together at first
a few extracts, we shall afterwards intersperse them as they may
be available in our narrative according to date.!

1456, Oct. 4.—The hed court of the burgh haldyn Monenday the ferd
day of the monith October; ye sitting callet, the court affirmit ilk
absent in amersiment. [Every absent member fined.]—2B. R. ,

Jtem, In yt ilk day, Will Bullo stud up in ye court, and claimit of

1 In our extracts from these and other old records, we have deemed it advisable to
modernise the orthography of some of the words. We likewise generally substitute
common for Roman numerals.
























































































































118 HISTORY OF PEEBLESSHIRE.

abortive effort for the same purpose at the palace of Falkland
in June 1592. Retiring among his vassals in Liddesdale, it
became necessary to assemble the lieges to quell this extra-
ordinary disturber of the public peace, and several proclamations
to that effect were issued by the Privy Council. As usual, in the
casc of border disturbances, Peebles was made a place of meeting,
and here James VI. presented himself to organise the forces
raised on the occasion. Seemingly roused for the moment from
his imbecility, the king, under date July 13, issued an edict to
destroy three dangerous strongholds—that of Tinnies, in Peebles-
shire, and those of Harden and Dryhope in Selkirkshire. In no
part of Scotland was there any feudal keep so like a robbers’
castle on the Rhine as that of Tinnies, which, occupying the
summit of a lofty knoll, towered over the plain of Drummelzier,
and was, in all respects, a fitting residence for one who set
the law at defiance. At this period, it was occupied by James
Stewart, of whom we know nothing from the records, further
than he was connected with the designs of Bothwell, and exposed
himself to the severest penalties. The royal warrant for the
demolition of Tinnies is too remarkable not to be given
entire.

* At Peebles, 13th July 1592.—The Kingis Majestie, with advice of
the Lordis of his Secret Councale, Givis and Grantis full power and
commission, express bidding and charge, be thir presents to his welbe-
lovitt William Stewart of Traquair, to dimolois, and cause be dimoloist
and cussen down to the ground, the place and houss of Tynnies, quhilkis
perteint to James Stewart, sumtyme of Tynnies ; as alsua the like power
and commission, express bidding and charge to Walter Scott of Gouldie
Landis, and Mr Jideon Murray, conjunctlic and severallie, to demolois,
and cause be demoloist and cussen down to the ground, the places,
housses, and fortalices of Harden and Dryhoip. pertaining to Walter
Scott of Harden, quha with the said James Stewart was art and part of
the lait tressonabill fact perpetrat against his hieness awne person at
Falkland.  And that the forsaid persons caus the premisses be putt in
evecutioun with all convenient expeditioun, as they will answer to his
hieness upoun their obedience.’'—2. C. R.

Strangely enough, the Tweedies were either not concerned in
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at David Lindsay’s buith shoeing his horse, being altogether
careless of his awre suretie, Drummelzier dividit his hail
friendis and servazdis in twa cumpanyis, and directit John
and Rober: Tuedyis his brether germaine, Patrick Porteous
of Hawkshaw, Jcha Creichtoun of Quarter, Charles Tuedy,
household servand to ike said James, and Hob Jardin, to
go to Coris Cicse. being direct opposite to Lindsayis buith,
and he himself, accumpanyed with Mr John and James
Tuedyis. sones to the gudeman of Dreva. past to the Kirk Wynd,
beinz a little bewest the said buith, to await, that the said James
might not escape : and baith the cumpanyis being convenit at
the fute of the said cloises. finding the said James standing at
David Lindsayis buith dor with his bak to thame, they rucheit
oute of the said clcises. and shameiullie, cruellie, and unhon-
nestlie, with schottis of pistollettis murdereit and slew him
behind his bak.” The parties accused not compearing are
denounced and escheat. Tweedic was afterwards secured, but
with the ordinary result. In June 1393. he was a prisoner in
Edinburgh Castie. and Sir Michael Balfour of Burley became
security that. on being liberated. he would within 48 hours enter
himself in ward in Fite. there to remain during His Majesty's
pleasure.—P. C. R.

1393. Sep. 11.—Proclamation at Surling to meet the king at Peebles
on 1 November, for pursuit and punishment of rebels.—2P. C. R.

1503—94. Feb. 15.—The assassination of the Laird of Glenhegdon is
agzain before the Privy Council.  Charles Geddes of Rachan for himself,
and as procurator for Margzaret Veitch, relict of James Geddes of Glen-
hegdon. produces a copy of summons at the instance of John Creich-
toun of Quarter, and Patrick Porteous of Hawkshaw, charging him and
the said Margaret Veitch to appear on 7 Feb., and shew letters of
homing they had mised azainst the said John Creichtoun and Patrick
Porteous, for not compeaninz to answer touching the murder of the
said James Geddes—and to hear said letters suspended.  Neither
Crichtoun nor Porteous appearing. the Lords denounce them, and order
them to be put to the homn : also, that James Tweedy of Drummelzier,
cautioner for their appearance, be prosecuted for penalties.—2. C. R.

In 1595. there occurred a regular and public combat on Edston






























130 HISTORY OF PEEBLESSHIRE.

came and thair upbraidit the said complenair with mony injurious
speecheis, and them with drawn swordis invadit and perseuit him of his
lyff, and strak from him the mid finger of his left hand, mutillat him
thairof and of the haill remanent fingaris of the same hand, and hurte
and woundit him in divers utheris pairtis of his body, to the effusioun of
his blood in grite quantitie, and had not faillit to have slane him, were
not be the providence of God and his awne bettir defence he eschaiped.’
Defenders not appearing, are denounced rebels.—2. C. R.

Under the same date a large number of tenants of John
Stewart of Traquair having failed to make appearance to answer
the charge of non-payment to him of 1000 merks as principal,
and 100 merks of liquidate expenses—possibly on the score of
rent—are denounced rebels by the Privy Council. The case is
of no public intcrest. We notice it only for the purpose of
citing an instance of using a nickname in a legal record. One of
the defaulters is ¢ William Rutherfurd, callit Nateis Willie'—
P.C R

1609, May 25.—Mr Archibald Bow, minister at Stobo, sues James
Tweedy in Stank, denounced rebel for not removing himself ¢ fra that
pairt of the said complenaris gleib callit the Willie Croft.” Defender not
appearing, the captain of the king’s guard is ordered to apprehend and
bring him to justice.—2P. C. R.

About this period, and somewhat later, the town of Peebles
was in trouble as regards education. The old ecclesiastical
endowments which should have been partly appropriated for this
purpose being now gone, there was a difficulty in keeping up
schools. In a thin quarto printed for private circulation, purport-
ing to be ¢ Extracts from the common good of various Burghs in
Scotland, rclative to Schools and Schoolmasters between the
years 1557 and 1634," we find the following particulars regarding
the salaries paid to the schoolmasters in Peebles from 1608 to
1634 :

1608.—7fem, To Mr John Young, skuilmaister, for his

yierly fee and chamber mail [lodging-rent], . . A109 Scots.
Item, Given to the doctor of the skuill, . . L 16 »

1tem (1628-1634), Givento our scholmaister and doctom' 1
for their fees. . . .. . . . 250 merks. |
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of Newbottle, upon Sunday nixt afoir none, and thair, in presence o
parrochynnaris, sall confes his offence, and crave thame forgivens,
under the pane of 41000’ Scots.—P. C. R.

1611, Feb. 21—Robert Horsburgh, burgess of Peebles, complains to
the Privy Council, that on the 7th instant, William Scott, son to Phiip
Scott of Dryhope, with his accomplices, to the number of twelve persons,
‘bodin in feir of weir,’ came, under cloud and silence of night, abo
ten hours at even, to the complainer’s ¢ dwelling-house within the sud
burgh, quhair he and his familie wer repairing to thair beddis, and thar
perforce cnterit within the said house, and invadit and persewit him for
his bodclie harm and slauchter, gaif him mony bauch, bla, and blmdy
straikis on divers pairtis of his bodie, of purpois to have slane the
complenair, quhilk they had done, wer not he relevit be certane
of the inhabitants” Defender not appearing, is denounced rebel—

L. C R

To what extent William ITorsburgh, brother to the laird of
that Ilk, paid the penalty for his transgressions, does not appear.
That he was not greatly worse than the other members of
the family, appears from an entry in the Record, June 27, 1611,
when there is a serious complaint lodged against the laid
and his sons. It sets forth ‘that Alexander Horsburgh of that
Ik, and Alexander, William, and John Horsburgh, his sons
have, during the last four yecars, worne hagbutis and pistolletis,
and at cveric tyme thay had occasion to repair from thair
awnc houses on horse or fute, thay came nevir ane myle without
pistolletis or hagbutis in thair handis, as also ordinarilie with
swordis, and as yct continucs thair violation of his Hienes lawis
—in so far as, upon the day of June instant, Alexander
Hay wes upon the landis of Sheilgrene, without company o
armour, and having some grudge aganis him, thay all horsit,
and with grite speid went to the pairt quhair the said Alexander
IHay wes, and as soon as thay came in sicht of him, thay kuist
thair cloikis frome thame, took their swordis and pistolletis in
thair handis, and with all thair speid ran toward the said
Alexander Hay, chassit him ane myle towardis ane house of
his fatheris, and had not he left his horse and taken to his fute,
having the advantage of ane hill whiche wes not verie possible
to thamc to wone on horsbak, thay had not faillit to have slane
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the intent of taking his life. Some of the king's guard are
ordered to bring Tweedie from the tolbooth of Pecbles to
Edinburgh, there ‘to be wardit in the theivis hoill, and to
secure a number of witnesses to be examined in the case. These
witnesses are chiefly tenants in the parish of Stobo, two of them
. being ¢ John Alexander callit Over John, and John Alexander
callit Nether John’ While Tweedie is in ward, he is to pay his
own expenses.

1612, Sept. 11.—James Noble, in the Eistburne of Stobo, son of the
deceased John Noble there, with the rest of their kinsmen, complain
that John Scott, called the Clerk in Elrig, murderer of said John Noble,
and denounced rebel in default of finding security for his appearance
before the Council, is still at large. The Lords order the captain of
the king’s guard to bring him to justice.—2. C. R.

1613, July 15.—Sir Robert Stewart, tutor of Traquair, complains that
William Haliburton in Whitrig, denounced rebel for not appearing to
answer touching ‘his allegeit presenting of ane bendit hagbute to the
said Schir Robert, avowing to shoote him thairwith, gif he quarrillit or
fand fault with him.” The Lords order the captain of the king's guard
to bring him to justice.—2. C. R.

In 1615, we again unpleasantly hear of the Horsburghs. On
the 11th of July, ‘ John Johnstone in Lie'—probably the farm
now called the Lee, parish of Innerleithen—complains that being
one day lately ¢ within the burgh of Peblis, William Horsburgh,
son to the Laird of Horsburgh, came to the said complenair,
feirslic set upon him, and with a drawne sword shamefullic
invadit him, gaif him a dcidlie wound on the head, and woundit
him in divers uther pairts, and left him lyand for deid.” Defender
not appearing, is denounced rebel—P. C. R.

Little more than a month afterwards, the Laird of Horsburgh
complains of the conduct of his eldest son, who seems to have
been quite as troublesome a youth as his brother William.
Under date August 23, 1615, the laird piteously states to the
Privy Council, ‘ That Alexander Horsburgh, his cldest son,
having shaiken off all feir of God, reverence of the law, and that
natural regaird and dewtie quhilk he aucht to his said father, and
being unmyndful of the exceeding grite favouris whilk he bore to
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of Tynnes, his cousin-german, refuse to sign letters of slains, and
inclined to produce a feud between the families. The defenders not
appearing, are denounced rebels. But they afterwards appear, sign the
letters, and the decree against them is suspended.—2. C. R.

1619, July 20.—John Stewart of Traquair prosecutes Walter Turnbull
of Bedrule, and others, for unlawfully cutting down and taking away his
woods. And on Aug. 25, he prosecutes the Turnbulls for carrying away
¢ 30 darge of hay.’ Defenders not appearing, are denounced rebels.—
P.C R

1620, March 30.—The provost and bailies of the burgh of Peebles
complain that on the roth instant, Beatrix Ker Lady Gladstanes, William,
Robert, and James, her sons, Robert Dickson in Hundelshope, Alex-
ander Melros there, and William Ker, plewman there, with about ten
other persons, ‘all bodin in feir of weir, came to the commontie of the
burgh called Kaidmuir, quhair some of the inhabitants were occupied in
thair lauchful affairis, upon thair awne heritage, and thair threatnit thame
with death gif they depairtit not the ground, and did quhat in thame lay
to have brokin His Majesties peace, and to have committit some open
insolence against the complenaris.” William Elliote, provost, John
Dickson, bailie, and James Williamson, late bailie, made appearance as
complainers. Defenders not appearing, are denounced rebels.—2. C. R.

1620, Aug. 23.—VWilliam Elliote, provost, John Dickson and John
Louis, bailies, and Alexander Mure, treasurer, and the whole council of
Pecbles, apply for suspension of letters of horning raised against them at
the instance of Alexander Lawder of Halton, charging them to find
caution for his indemnity, or for that of John Lawder his herd, under
penalty of 3ooo merks, and being denounced rebels—because the
penalty far exceeds the sum specified in the act of parliament. Letters
of horning suspended.—2. C. R.

For some years about this period, the books of the Privy
Council bear frequent entries concerning debts incurred by the
Twecdies, with denunciations of hornings and captions. Pressed
by financial difficulties, they begin to dispose of their lands, and
the clan in its several branches would otherwise appear to have
been now approaching that crisis which naturally ensued from
generations of turbulence and defiance of the law; the wonder
really being that thcy had not long since been swept as brigands
from the county. \Vith this explanation, we are not unprepared
for the following strange circumstances connected with the sale
of Halmyre.
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of Romanno, and Thomas Edmond in Slipperfield, attacked
them at the Bromehouse, between Linton and Edinburgh, and
seriously wounded Thomas Tweedie. Defenders assoilzied on
the ground that the pursuers were the first to attack.—2. C. R.

Same date—John Murray of Halmyre complains that John
Tweedie of Dreva, John Tweedie his son, feir thairof, Mr James
Tweedie, poftioner of Stobo, Thomas Tweedie of Dunsyre, Mr
John Tweedie of Winkistoun, John Tweedie of Henderlethane,
Walter Tweedic, son to said James of Dreva, William Tweedie
of Scottistoun, Alexander Tweedie in Broughtoun, son to said
John Tweedie of Dreva, and William Tweedie, son to said John
Tweedie of Henderlethane, all denounced rebels for not finding
caution to keep the complainer skaithless, are still at large.
Captain of the king’s guard ordered to apprehend them and
bring them to justice—2~. C. R.

Amidst these scandalous feuds, which reflect little credit on
the past history of the county, Peebles received from James VL
a special mark of his favour, by being granted a charter not only
in ratification, but in cxtension of former privileges as a royal
burgh. In this important document, which, confirmed by
parliament November 17, 1641, has ever since remained the
palladium of the town in its corporate capacity, the king
graciously refers-to the services rendered by the inhabitants, ‘not
only by defending the country against foreign enemies, but also
by exposing their persons and estates to open and evident
oppression, as well by struggling on the borders of England as
of Scotland, and likewise the great prejudice and loss sustained
by them from thence, both in punishing transgressors and other
disturbers within the bounds of our kingdom, their city being
often spoiled, burnt, and laid waste, and desolated, lying contigu-
ous to the said borders’' Looking to the extensive commons,
including Kingsmuir, Caidmuir, Hamildean, Venlaw, and Glen-
tress, also the lands, houses, fishings, multures, customs, and
sequestrated ccclesiastical property described in this munificent

1 For the charter entire, seec Appendix.









CHARLES I. TILL WILLIAM AND MARY.

HE accession of Charles I, in 1625, was marked by no
event in Peeblesshire of which there is any special record.

There continued to be occasional feuds among the gentry,

who had not yet learned to submit their disputes, in all cases, to
the arbitration of law. Things in this respect, however, were
mending. In the reign of Charles I, and more particularly
during the Protectorate of Cromwell, the government was con-
ducted with more vigour than it had been previously. The
Justice ayres, which, as provincial courts of justiciary, had visited
Peebles from a period as early as the time of David I., swept off
criminal arrears with a growing and somewhat alarming dis-
respect of rank. The sheriffs, principal and depute, conducted
themselves a little more discreetly. Above all, there now arose
a set of petty spiritual courts, which, on the ground of exercising
church-discipline, took cognizance of every department of public
morals; and there is now presented the amusing spectacle of
irascible and rebellious lairds so cowed into subjection as
to pillory themselves barefoot on the stool of repentance at
the orders of a parish kirk-session. Fortunately, when facts
of this kind are needed to supplement our too meagre nar-
rative, we are able to resort to two Records—those of the
Presbytery of Peebles, and of the several kirk-sessions through-

out the county. To do the spiritual dignitaries of the shire justice,
J
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The Laird of Haldon, absent himself ; Jo. Haldon, his bailie, present
in his name, accompanied with ten horsemen and two futmen, all with
lances and swords ; parish of Broughton.

The Laird of Romanno, present, weil horsit, with ane sword, with
four horsemen, with lances and swords ; parish of Newlands.

The Laird of Halton, absent himself ; nine of his men present, with
lances and swords ; in the parishes of Peebles and Edilston.

John Lawder of Foulage, present, for Foulage and Melinsland, weil
horsit, with ane jack, plet sleeves, and steil bonnet, sword and lance;
within the parish of Peebles.

The Laird of Smithfield, absent himself; seven of his men present,
horsit, with ane futman, all with swords and lances ; parish of Peebles.

Jo. Horsbrugh, present, for the lands of Hutchinfield, weil horsit, with
collet, buff coat, steil bonnet, with lance and sword ; parish of Peebles.

The Laird of Langla-hill, present, weil horsit, with jack, steil bonnet,
with lance and sword; with three horsemen, with swords and lances;
within the parish of Broughton.

David Murray of Halmyre, weil horsit, accompanied with thirty-nine
horsemen, and ane buff coat, collet ; all the rest with lances and swords;
within the parishes of Newlands, Stobo, and Drummelzier.

Jo. Thomson in Bonington, present, horsit, with lance and sword;
parish of Peebles.

Jo. Bullo in Bonington, present; horsit, with sword and lance ; parish
of Peebles.

Jo. Scot of Hundilshop, absent himself ; six of his men present, horsit,
with two futmen, all with lances and swords ; parish of Menner.

James Scot of Cruickston, absent himself; two of his men present,
futmen, with lances and swords ; parish of Peebles.

The Laird of Menner, present ; weil horsit, accompanied with seven
horsemen, all with swords and lances ; within the parish of Menner.

William Burnet, elder of Barns, present, weil horsit, with a buff coat
and steil bonnet, lance and sword ; accompanied with seven horsemen,
with lances and swords, with ane futman with a lance ; within the parish
of Menner.

Robert Porteous, for Winkston, present, with a buff coat, a pair of
pistols, and a rapier.

The Laird of Dawick, present, weil horsit, with ane sword ; accom-
panied with ane horseman, with a sword and a lance; parish of
Dawick.

Robert Pringle of Chapelhill, present, weil horsit, with a lance, pistol,
and sword ; and a futman with a lance.

The Laird of Hartric, absent himself ; ten of his men present, horsit,
with lances and swords ; parish of Kilbucho.
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William Brown of Logan, present, weil horsit, with lance and sword ;
and ane horseman with nathing ; parish of Glenholm.

Walter Scott of Glenrath, absent himself; four of his men present,
horsit, with lances and swords, and ane steil bonnet; in the parish of
Menner.

Roland Scott, for his part of Deins-houses, present, horsit, with
jack, steil bonnet, sword, and lance ; parish of Newlands.

, for his part of Deins-houses, present, horsit; with
jack, steil bonnet, sword, and lance ; parish of Newlands.

William Tweedie, younger of Wrae, present, horsit, with ane horse-
man, baith with lance and sword ; parish of Glenholm.

Jo. Paterson, portioner of Broughton-sheills, present, weil horsit, with
lance and sword ; parish of Broughton.

The Laird of Glack, absent himself ; three of his men present, horsit,
with twa lances and swords ; parish of Menner.

The Laird of Halkshaw, absent himself; four of his men present, with
three lances and swords, horsit ; parish of Drummelzier.

The Laird of Posso, sheriff-depute foresaid, with buff coat, steil bonnet,
twa pistols and sword, accompanied with fourteen horsemen, with lances
and swords.

The names of the Barons, Gentlemen, and Freeholders who were
absent themselves, with their men, frae the said Wapon-shawing :

My Lord Borthwick, for his hail lands in Tweeddale, absent.
James Stewart of Easter Horsbrugh.

Roger Purves, for his part of Purveshill.

James Tait, for his part thereof.

The Laird of Riddel, for his part thereof.

Jo. Bryson, for his part thereof. ,

The Laird of Glen.

The Laird of Boninton-Scot.

The Laird of Covington, for his part of Bold.

Sir John Murray of Philiphaugh, for his part thereof.
The Laird of Traquair.

The Lord of Garlies, for the lands of Ormistoun.

The Laird of Pirn.

The Laird of Henderston.

The Lord of Morton, for his hail lands in Tweeddale.
The Lord of St John, for his hail lands in Tweeddale.
The Laird of Cardrona.

Gilbert Chisholm, for his part of Aikerfield.

The Laird of Earlshaugh.
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My Lord Melros, for his hail lands of Tweeddale.

The Lord of Halyrudhous, for his lands of Slipperfield.

The Laird of Henderland.’

The list of lairds and their retainers on this occasion is valuable
as shewing who were the principal land-proprietors, and their
relative power and importance, as likewise the method of arming
and attending county musters in 1627. Other considerations are
suggested. Neither at this nor at a later period do we hear of
tenant-farmers, except as servants at the command of their
masters. All had to turn out armed when ordered to do so, and
compelled, as soldiers on horse or foot, to take part in military
movements, which, deubtless, in some instances they secretly
disliked. For this abject condition there was, however, no help.
Lands were let only on the tenure of rendering military service
in the cause espoused by the proprietors, and any shortcoming
in this respect would have been visited with penalties which the
local heritable jurisdictions would not have been slack in
imposing. Constantly subject to these unpleasant demands, the
tenantry likewise suffered from such fines as happened to be laid
on their landlords for acts not agreeable to the higher authorities;
and the picture of their condition receives an additional shade
from their poor style of living and means of subsistence. The
sole exhilaration in the lot of the middle and lower classes in
either town or country, was derived from a constant succession
of public religious exercises, on which all were not only allowed

“but invited to pronounce a deliberate opinion. From numerous
entries in the books of the Presbytery of Peebles, we learn that
that venerable body took especial care to encourage the practice
of criticising the sermons, life, and doctrine of ministers, such a
usage being highly flattering to popular judgment, and calculated
to establish a universal censorship of manners.

1627, Feb. 15.—The Presbytery visited the parish kirk of Peebles, in
which the inhabitants were convened, in order to inquire whether they
were satisfied with the doctrine and ministrations of the parson. All
declared they were well satisfied, and praised God for so good a

minister ; but they were not pleased with Hector Cranston, the vicar,
whose duty consisted in reading a portion of the Scriptures daily,
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Empson, without offence to them, and reflection upon my owne judge-
ment. I pray lett Capt. Hubbert knowe I shall not bee unmindefull of
him, and that noe disrespect is intended to him. But, indeed, I was not
- satisfied with your last speech to mee about Empson, that he was a better
preecher than a fighter or souldier, or words to that effect. Truly I
thinke Hee that prayes and preches best will fight best. I know nothing
will give like courage and confidence as the knowledge of God in Christ
will, and I blesse God to see any in this Armye able and willinge to
impart the knowledge they have for the good of others. And I expect
itt bee encouraged by all Chiefe Officers in this Armye especially: and I
hope you will doe soe. I pray receave Capt. Empson lovinglye. I dare
assure you hee is a good man and a good officer. I would wee had noe
worse. I rest your lovinge friend,
O. CROMWELL.

Dec. 25, 1650

Capturing Neidpath, and taking possession of the ancient
castle of Peebles. there was no other military operation to be
effected in the county, for the gentry generally submitted, and
apart from them as leaders, the people could have made no
effective stand. That the Usurpation was not at the outset
unaccompanied with some turmoil and panic, is seen from
several kirk-session records. .

1650, Nov. 10.—Because of the English putting garrisons in
the country, there was no meeting in the kirk till the 2gth
December, all which time the minister was in a fleeing condition
1651, Feb—No session at this time, because the enemy were
going up and down. Aug. 3.—No sermon because the Scots
army marching up Tweed had driven away most part of the
sheep and the cattle, and the people were busied in following
their goods, in giving meat to the soldiers, and in keeping their
houses from strangers.—K. S. R., Drummelsier.

1651, March 23.—No meeting this day for fear of the enemy.
3oth.—The collection this day to be given to a man for acting
as a watch during the time of sermon. Aug. 3.—No meeting,
because of the marching of the enemy through the parochine—
K. S. R., Tweedsmuir. The kirk-session of the parish of Inner
leithen becoming uneasy for the safety of some cash on hand,
resorted to the ingenious device of lending it on bond until more
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burgh records of Peebles are resumed on the 12th of July 1650,
and the first entry worth specifying is one respecting the famous
Mirk or Dark Monday, as registered by Thomas Smyth, town-
clerk!

¢ Upon Monday, the 2gth of March 1652, the sun eclipsed from eight
hours to half-hour to eleven, or thereby, before noon, the sun eclipsed
eleven digits ; the darkness continued about eight minutes. The people
all began to pray to God. A little hereafter was seen upon the south
side of the firmament a clear perfect star. Some affirmed they saw two,
but I one only.’—Smyth adds a sentence in Latin, which may be thus
translated : ¢ And because this has been rare and wonderful, therefore I
judged it worthy to put it on record.”

Although the country was at this time in an agony of transi-
tion from the monarchy to the Protectorate, the burgh books
embrace nothing respecting public affairs, and we only leam
incidentally that troops were stationed in the town. The greater
number of entries in the record refer to assaults, and the fines
which were imposed in consequence. We select the following in
illustration of public manners between 1652 and 1658.

1652, Aug. 14. Ordains ane watch to be kept nightly for restraining
the stealing of corn in time of harvest.—Andrew Haldane, miller, to be
imprisoned in the steeple for disobedience to an act of Council. —Inflicts
upon Catherine Porteous, for riot upon Nanse Smaille, a fine of ten pounds
Scots.—1653, Jan. 10. Thomas Murdo, guilty of riot done upon John
Plenderleith, bailie, to be fined ten pounds Scots, and banished from the
town.—John Mitchell and William Jackson, herds in Glenrath, found
guilty of blood and riot on each other; Mitchell to be fined twelve
pounds, and Jackson five pounds, Scots.—Feb. 7. Ordains William
Jenkison and Christian Pulson to pay to the treasurer, for riot committed
on each other, forty shillings Scots each, or to remain in ward.—Thomas
Moses, waulker [cloth-fuller], fined ten pounds Scots for riot and keeping
ane dog for biting.—The Council remits the riot committed by Thomas
Williamson, writer, upon James Anderson, on condition he shall carry
himself more civilly in time coming, wherein, if he fail, this to be charged
against him.—Inflicts upon George Thomson, for riot committed by
him in removing a plough off the lands of Alexander Brotherstanes,

! The part where the entry occurs being greatly damaged and scarcely legible, we
have preferred adopting a copy which had been taken by John M‘Ewen, town-clerk,
and inserted in the Scots Magazine, vol. xxxix. p. 251 ; May 1777. .
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amusing details which reward the trouble of investigation are
those which relate to the settlement of rates of wages of men and
women servants. In this department of business, the justices of
peace for the county found the keen scent of the constables to be
particularly efficacious.

1656, April 1. The following rates of servants’ fees are ordered by the
justices: To ane able man-servant who is to be ploughman, [living]
within house, able to cut garse, divots, or peats, or work any sort of
husband labour, eight pounds Scots of money, a pair of single-soled
shoone, and six quarters of grey [cloth], or the worth of fourty shillings
Scots for his shoone, and grey at his own option, every half-year. Toa
second servant for husband labour, who is not able for the employment
above mentioned, but for other worke, eight merks Scots money, six
quarters of grey, and a pair of single-soled shoone each half-year. To
a boy or lad able to keep cattle, four merks Scots, ane ell of grey, and a
pair of single-soled shoone each half-year. To ane able woman-servant
who is able for milking cows, barn, and byre, and all sort of household
worke, for the summer half-year, fourty shillings Scots of money, three
quarters of wool, or fifty shillings money and half a stone of wool, and a
pair of single-soled shoone. To a second woman-servant or a lasse, two
shillings sterling of money, six pounds of wool, and a pair of single-soled
shoone for the summer half-yeare.—/. P. R.

Several meetings of the justices ensue, in relation to these
and other rates of wages, at one of which, May 5, 1657, it is
ordained, ‘that all employers shall testify on oath what fees they
have conditioned for to their servants; and whatsoever is
conditioned more than the said act allows, the surplus shall by
the masters be presently payed into the collector of the fynes of
court, and they to have retention of the same from the servants,
if the fee be not payed; but if the same be payed, then the
servant himself to be imprisoned till he pay the same to the
collector foresaid.

¢At this meeting, the justices considering their former rates
for best sort of women-servants to be too low, they therefore
allow the best sort of women-servants twentie merks, or the
value thereof, in fee and bountiths, yearlie. It being found that
Robert Hunter of Polmood has payed in excess of servants’ fees
thirty-two shillings, he is ordered to pay the amount presently;
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shoone for half a year. Ordains Alexander Harper to pay a
merk. James Richesone called, declares, he got 8 lib. for the
harvest, whilk is found to be above the acts by thirteen shillings
four pennies. James Simson, sworn, declares, he gave James
Porteous for harvest 8 lib. ; to William Harper, twentie pounds,
two pair of shoone, six quarters of grey, a furlet of aits,
and land for sowing, five lambs’ grass, and a shirt; for whilk
James Porteous is ordered to pay a merk, and James Simson for
William Harper, six pounds Scots.”—¥. P. R.

From the foregoing, it is observed that the wages and allow-
ances to servants were placed under a strict system of regulation
in the seventeenth century, and that any excess of wage over the
sum permitted by the justices was recoverable in the form of
fine—the whole circumstances narrated affording a curious
insight into the social arrangements of these times. The
extracts given are valuable as shewing what were the usual
wages paid to farm-servants in 1657. Twenty merks, or 21s. 84
sterling, were allowed to be paid to women per annum. Fora
man-servant, three soumes® were allowed ; and the payment to a
man for harvest-work was 13s. 3}4. sterling. We further leam
that the price of a pair of shoes was 10s. Scots, or 104. sterling.

Succumbing to the firm rule of Cromwell, the Peeblesshire
lairds, as a body, escaped the heavy fines laid on those who
rendered themselves obnoxious to government at this trying
period. Two persons, however, suffered severely for their
adhesion to the cause of falling royalty—John, first Ear of
Traquair, whose reverses of fortune between 1645 and 1650
will afterwards need to be told; and Sir William Murray
of Stanhope, who, by act of parliament April 12, 1654, was
fined in the heavy sum of £2000 sterling. Traquair was the
less fortunate of the two, for he died in poverty in 1659;
whereas Murray lived to sce Charles II. resume the throne,
and to be rewarded with a baronetcy. Perhaps the pro-
prietors in the county generally thought they suffered enough,

1 A soume of grass was as much as will pasturc one cow or five sheep.——ddl
Qumes VI

























































-

T A T

104 HISTORY OF PEEBLESSHIRE.

drum, and discharged never to be found within the burgh under penal
of being scourged.—Janet Jenkinson having slandered the same woma
Margarcet Stevenson, by saying she had witched James Simson’s cow
and caused them to give red blood for milk, is ordered to be rebuked.
1677, Jan.  William Lang, town-piper, to be rebuked for playing
unseasonable hours, and is discharged to play after 8 o’clock, under
penalty of forty shillings Scots.—1678. Andrew Scott accused
sellimg his wite for £40 Scots to John Wood, declaring that she v
vheap at the money.  Excuses himself by saying he was in drink, but
onlened to contess publicly.—A&L S. R., Pecbles.

When the risings drew to a head in the west. the comm
sweres of mititia in Peeblesshire were ordered (Feb. 18, 1677) ¢
Vi tegether the regiment and troop of horse, armed and pi
vivenad for tweaty davs; and to march from the appoint
rerdeanens o G'.h':ow there to abide orders of the commiti

sl and s Matesty's general'—P. C. R.
et who lved thmugh this troublous period, a
i fizia raised t> suppress the insurm
e Sgne apdied us o scmewhat more  satisfactc

Casnor s en YT Trrin s thar that which is contained in his br

N =z mnooris of the Presbytery and kil
SEERE AR wsides teing brief. the doctor |
e sioriine s * No public serm
et Nesil 22 000 May g, o0 lirs Teing sent to apprehend t
mmsien, Lot he peor g petl e o€ thelr design, went aw,
vndoretiredd May s ¢ Tre = onsize adventured to preat
hawing wateher.” £, R, Deemnciss—1677, Dec. 2. 1
session kept, by teaon of the €2z Terng 370 at conventicles.

K. S.R., Tweed:murr - “imilar entmies 2 The 2o0ks of this pari

for several yeur, and frequent petizes o7 freguiar baptisms a
marriages.  One of thew notices N:v 23 197°9) purports to
a *memorandum of thewe who haptisel t=cir children disordes
at hous: or firld conventicles ;' such meiings usually taki
place in remote parts, amaong the hilis n23- the head of the Co
the Fruid, and the Talla.  Other two enimiss are equally ilh
trative of the state of affuirs.—1679, June 1 - Drumclog day) |
July 20.  ‘ There was no sermon, owing t> the rebellion in t







































THE REVOLUTION UNTIL RECENT TIMES.

HE Revolution Settlement, with many valuable securities
T against arbitrary power, introduces us unfortunately to a

new phase of religious dissension. Instead of the tests and
oaths of office, which caused so much trouble in the reigns of
Charles II. and his brother, we have the edict of the Scottish
Estates, April 13, 1689, enjoining ministers, under penalties, to
pray publicly for their majesties, William and Mary, and to read
a proclamation dethroning King James. The enforcing of these
obligations, as appears from the records, had much the same
effect in ousting the settled parochial clergy, as that which
ensued from the act establishing Episcopacy in 1662. If any
one entertain doubts on the subject, he has only to consult the
books of the Privy Council, which contain evidence, to a weari-
some extent, of the extrusion of parish ministers for nonconfor-
mity at the Revolution. Not many of the Peeblesshire ministers
refused to change sides. Now, as on former occasions, they
generally followed the lairds, quietly dropped the rule of a
diocesan, prayed according to state injunctions, and kept their
manses and livings. If inclined to think that this was some-
what mean-spirited, we are charitably to recollect that the
change was only one in a series which perhaps had not yet
come to an end. For about a century, ecclesiastical polity
in Scotland had undergone revolutions with a frequency
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which must have ceased to astonish. There were, doubtless,
at this time people alive in Tweeddale, as elsewhere, who had
seen about half-a-dozen of these overturns, and to them one
more would almost seem a matter of course. Dr Pennecuik
lets ds know, in verse, that his father, the Laird of Newhall,

whom
—— ¢death at length had shuffled from the stage,
The oldest ZEsculapius of our age,’

possessed this happy amount of experience, for in the course of
his long life, protracted to ¢ thrice thirty years,’

¢ Five mighty kings, from his birth to his grave,

The Caledonian sceptre swayed have ;

Four times his eyes hath seen from cloak to gown,
Prelate and presbyter turned upside down.’

Peacefully as- the transition from prelate to presbyter was now
effected in Peeblesshire, there were a few ministers so conscien-
tiously intractable as to risk deprivation rather than comply
with the new requisitions.

1689, Aug. 27—At the complaint of Richard Murray of
Spitalhaugh and others, William Gray, minister of Linton, was
ordered to appear to answer the charge of not praying for their
majesties, William and Mary. Not appearing, an act of depsi-
vation is passed against him.—P. C. R.

Same date—At the complaint of John Noble and Alexander
Russell, William Bullo, minister of Stobo, was deprived for not
praying for their majesties.—2. C. R.

Sep. 17—At the complaint of James Geddes of Kirkurd,
David Spence, minister, was deprived for not praying for their
majesties.—P. C. R.

Same date—At the complaint of James Brown of Kilbucho,
and others, William Alison, minister, was charged with not
praying for their majesties, William and Mary, and of praying
for King James. Alison, who was old and deaf, repelled the
accusation, declared that he had prayed for their majesties ; and
that as for King James, he had prayed only for his reformation
Absolved from the charge—2P. C. R.
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1695s.—After some proceedings before the Presbytery, a
petition was presented by Lord William Douglas to the Lords of
the Privy Council, November 5, ¢ Shewing that the petitioner
is patron of the church and parish of Manor, which have been
vacant these several years byegone, and the petitioner being
resolved to apply the vacand stipend thereof for building ane
bridge over the Water of Manor at the foot thereof, where
formerly there was ane built and is now fallen, and which Water
is oft times so great that it cannot be past, and which is not only
upon the common mercat road for a great part of the parish, and
the greatest part of the shire of Peebles, but likeways the patent
road to and from England for the greatest part of the westem
shires of the kingdome, and the building thereof is a most
necessar pious use.’” The prayer of the petition being considered,
Lord William Douglas receives authority to employ the vacant
stipend as craved, for the building of the bridge; Alexander
Horsburgh, younger, of that Ilk, who has a factorage from his
lordship, to proceed to collect the stipend, he giving caution to
use the money only as specified—P. C. R.

The bridge here referred to is that now over the small river
Manor, a short way above its junction with the Tweed. The
inscription on it bears that it was erected by Lord William
Douglas, but lcaves out the not unimportant fact, that the cost
was defrayed from church-property. The representation made
by his lordship is otherwise curious. We gather from it that
there was previously a bridge across the Manor at the spot,
which afforded a means of communication between the western
shires of Scotland and England. The only explanation that
can be given respecting a thoroughfare of this kind is, that there
was at onc time a much-used road from Clydesdale by way of
Broughton, the ford across the Twced above Drummelzier,
thence through Manor parish and over the Swire to Peebles,
from which the route would proceed in an easterly direction
towards the English border. The want of bridges across the
lower part of the Lyne, and a very imperfect road by Neidpath,
would send the traffic by this circuitous and hilly, but oaly
















































RURAL AND GENERAL PROGRESS

CCORDING to Pennecuik, rural affairs in Tweeddale had
made a marked advance in 1715. In the northem
division of the county, portions of heathy morass had beea
drained, reducing, he says, ‘many of those black and barmrea
heaths to fertility and a fairer complexion’ The mosses
however, were not considered to be altogether objectionable ; for
as the inhabitants depended chiefly on peat for fuel, the circum
stance of being near a peat-moss was advertised as a recom-
mendation in selling estates. At this period, the produce of the
arable lands consisted of ‘rough bear and oats, few pease, and
less wheat.’ Artificial grasses had been sown to an inconsiderable
extent ; but green crops were unknown, and it was the practice
to kill and salt cattle at the beginning of winter, for want of any
sufficient means of feeding them. The country was unenclosed
and bare. ‘The greatest want, says Pennecuik, ‘is timber
Little planting is to be seen in Tweeddale, except it be some
few bushes of trees about the houses of the gentry ; and not ose
wood worth naming in all this open and windy country. So that
this unhappy want of foresight in their forefathers, necessitates |
them to be obliged to the sheriffdom of Lanrick for most partof
the timber necessary for their houses and husbandry. Yet there
begins to appear amongst the young nobility and gentry of this .
place, a general genius for planting ; which, in a few years, wil -
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frequent waste of liquid manure in farm-yards, seems still to be
required.

In consequence of the extension of turnip-cultivation on the
hills, farms which were formerly stocked every year with black-
faced wether lambs, are now stocked with Cheviot or with black-
faced ewes; and many sheep from these hill-farms, after being
brought to lower grounds, and fed on turnips for a time, are
sent to market at two years old. The cast ewes, also, of hill-
farms—that is, those which it is not thought expedient to keep
any longer for stock—are conveyed to lower grounds, to produce
lambs before they themselves go to the butcher ; rams of the
Leicester breed being in this case generally preferred. Half-bred
lambs are brought to market when fourteen or fifteen months
old, when, if properly cared for during winter, they weigh from
fourteen to twenty pounds per quarter.

In consequence of the disastrous losses sustained by the sheep-
farmers in the winter of 1859-1860, some have returned to the
hardier black-faced breed, who had previously stocked their
farms with Cheviots. In the inclement season referred to, where
whins (furze or gorse) grew on the farms, the sheep did not
suffer as elsewhere ; the young shoots of the whin affording them
food which is at all times acceptable, but of which the value was
then particularly felt by the farmer.

Oxen are chiefly of the Ayrshire and short-horn breeds, or
crosses more or less nearly allied to the short-horn. Where daity
produce is the object, which is generally sweet or fresh butte
and skimmed-milk cheese, Ayrshire cows are preferred ; but for
stock rearing, either for grazing or feeding, which is now i
greater favour, the short-horn crosses are more frequently kept-
The dairy management is not generally equal to that of many
other parts of the country. A dairy at Winkston alone deserveS
special commendation.

The farm-horses are almost all of the Clydesdale bree®
and many are reared in the county.

Swine are very generally kept by farmers, but no partlﬁlh
care is taken respecting their feeding. Many swine are also lo€#
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the population, the general death-rate of Scotland being, for the same
year, 2°30. In 1863, the ratio of illegitimate births in Peeblesshire-was
10°3 per cent. of the whole births ; the general ratio of illegitimate buths
in Scotland, for the same year, belng 9°9. )

The county and town of Peebles are united, under the Act 2 and:,
Will. IV. c. 35, as a joint parliamentary constituency, returning a
member to the House of Commons. According to the register made
up to November 1863, the number of voters, town and county included, -
was 466, whereof 97 resided out of the county.

Within the present century, the whole of the roads in the county have
been improved and kept in good condition, in virtue of certain turnpike
and statute-labour road acts, administered by trustees. Under the
current statutory arrangement, the turnpike roads are divided into six
districts, with a separate account for the bridge across the Tweed at
Innerleithen—all the thoroughfares, bridge included, being so far
maintained by tolls; a shortcoming in which has caused the districts
generally to get seriously into debt. The statute-labour roads have
been upheld by a small assessment levied in each parish as occasion
required. As the establishment of railways (see PEEBLES—BURGH) will
almost annihilate the revenue from the tolls, it is proposed to reorganise
the entire system on the basis of an assessment on property. A bil
prepared for the purpose has been introduced into parliament, and is
at present under consideration.

Some perplexity prevails respecting the number of parishes in
Peeblesshire, in conscquence of scveral being united for eccle-
siastical purposcs. The actual number of parishes in a legal
sense, is sixteen, as follows—Peebles, Eddleston, Innerleithen,
Traquair, Manor, Lyne with Megget, Stobo, Drummelzier,
Tweedsmuir, Broughton, Glenholm, Kilbucho, Kirkurd, Skirling,
Linton, and Newlands. For ecclesiastical purposes, Broughton,
Glenholm, and part of Kilbucho are reckoned as one; the
remaining portion of Kilbucho being ecclesiastically attached to
Culter, in Lanarkshire. Lyne and Megget, though lying apart,
are united groad omnia, and are therefore only one parish. The
result of these arrangements is, that the number of parish
ministers in the county is fourtecen. Parts of the parishes o
Innerleithen and Traquair extend into Selkirkshire, a portiocm
of which county is environed by the parish of Peebles. There=
are two suppressed parishes, Kailzic and Dawick, cach besgE
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the Cross Church, and the Chapel of the Virgin. The steeple of
this last-mentioned edifice, at the west end of the High Street
(opposite the office of the Union Bank), was that which contained
‘ye knok,” purchased by fines in 1462, and also the bell which,
besides calling together the council, summoned the inhabitants
three times every week to pay the cess or government tax
stented by the quarter-masters. This old steeple was further of
use in having a vaulted apartment, which, as auxiliary to the
tolbooth, served the purpose of a prison.

Of the mills, one was a wauk-mill on Eddleston, or, as it is
sometimes called, Peebles, Water ; and the other two, a malt and
meal mill, were on the Tweed, near the castle From frequent
references in the burgh records to the malt-mill and to breweries,
we conclude that in past times a considerable quantity of ale was
made for the use of thc inhabitants, and that the quality and
price of the article were protected by heavy penalties.

The arms of the town, referred to in the lines of Pennecuik,
consist of a shicld with three fishes, proper, counter-swimming—

that is, one swimming up and two

down the stream, as indicating the

increase by spawning; with the

motto, CONTRA NANDO INCRE-

MENTUM (Increase by swimming

against the flood). The figure of

St Andrew with his cross is some-

times introduced as crest ; such being

evidently traced to the patron saint

of the original parish church. The

Fig. 28 —Burgh Scal. arms without the crest, with the date

1682, continue to be borne on the seal of the burgh, of which
we offer a representation.

Peebles, as has been said, suffered a blow by the Act of Unioa,
about which time it scems to have dropped into that peaceful
and languishing condition from which it is only now effectually
recovering. It was about the conclusion of the tasteful period,
that the market-cross of the burgh, which figures at various times






262 HISTORY OF PEEBLESSHIRE.

surrounding crowd, who tried to catch the glasses as they fell
—the exhilaration of the scene being increased by shouts
mingled with strains from the town-piper and such other music
as was at command.! With incidents of this festive kind, also
the horse-races at Beltane, the competitions of the Royal
Archers, and the merriment of several annual fairs, we have
to enliven the somewhat dull routine of life in Peebles throughout
the greater part of the eighteenth century.

What became of the old castle of Peebles, once the residence
of royalty, is left unexplained by any record which we have been
able to consult. The last time we see it mentioned is in the
Rental Book of the Earl of Tweeddale’s estates, which is dated
¢ Peebles Castle, 26th April 1671 till 1685.’* Peebles Castle
therefore existed, though perhaps in a decayed condition, until
near the close of the seventeenth century, and shortly afterwards
sinking to ruin, it would probably be removed as building
materials. Certainly, it was gone at the commencement of the
eighteenth century. In 1720, the town-council ordered ¢the
banks round the castle-hill to be planted with trees’ Subse-
quently, a portion of the cleared site of the castle was laid out
as a public bowling-green; and the remaining part continued to
be occupied with some inferior buildings and a stack-yard until
the spacc was required for the new parish church.—B5. R. At
the building of the prison, some of the foundations of the castle
were disclosed.

Resuming the history of the burgh at the point it was broken off, we
are introduced to a personage who was long well known in the world of
fashion, Lord William Douglas, Earl of March and Ruglen, who after-
wards became fourth Duke of Queensberry. Born in 1725, in the
family mansion in Pcebles, the earl, while still a young man residing in
London, appears to have constituted himself political adviser to the town-
council, over which, from his territorial advantages, his patronage of the
parish, and other circumstances, he exercised apparently a complete

! Information from an aged lady, who remembered the health of George IL being
drunk in this manuer in 1758. .

 Inventory of Writings produced by Robert Taylor, a claimant in the Polmood
case.
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at each annual election, swore the following oath of secrecy, imme
diately after taking the oaths of allegiance and assurance:

‘I, , Do hereby Promise and Declare upon oath before God
and the remanent members of this Council, and that without any mental
reservation or prevarication, that I shall not Disclose or make known to
any person whatever, by word or write, or any other manner of way
whatsoever, any Secrets or Debates of this Council : That is, how or in
what manner any Member shall vote for or against any affair, cause, or
business, that shall come before them, nor the reasons and arguments
that shall be used and advanced by any Member of Council’—23. R.
Subscribed by all the members and town-clerk.

1759, Nov. 16.—William Malcolm applies to the council for assistance
to enable him to dig for coal, of which ‘he has good hopes,’ at Windy-
lawsburnfoot. It is agreed to let him have ‘three hands upon the
town’s expense for two weeks.” The council afterwards allow him wood
to prop the sides of his pits.—2B. R. This was a vain effort; no coal
was discovered, nor possibly could be.

Hitherto, Peebles had derived no little celebrity from its Beltane
festival, which, including horse-races, archery, and other sports, took
place on the level plain on the south bank of the Tweed, known as
Whitehaugh Muir. Unmindful of the value of traditions, which are in
themselves a property not purchasable with money, the town did not, as
it seems to us, make any particular effort to preserve this interesting
inheritance.  After passing through various hands, the Whitehaugh
Muir had for some time formed part of the estate of Haystoun, and
as such the town had paid yearly to the tenant the sum of ten merks
Scots, for its use at Beltane. The land coming into the management of
Dr James Hay, he began to enclose and improve it in a manner which
rendered it unfit for the customary festivities. At first, the town gave
little heed to these operations, but at length taking the matter up, the
council feigned to crave the opinion of a lawyer on the subject. On the
17th of February 1766, a memorial is copied into the records, repre-
senting that the town from time immemorial has used the Whitehaugh
Muir for its Beltane and other races, ¢ which have drawn large numbers
of persons from all parts of the kingdom,” and it is important to know
‘what measures the town should take to recover its right and
privilege to the said courses and muir’—2B. R. This memorial does not
appear to have been sent to any lawyer, and there is no more about it
Having twenty-seven years earlier dispossessed itself of King's Muir, the
town was now left without a sufficiently large space of ground whereon
to hold the great annual gathering. An ancient festival, commemorated
by two royal poets, and from which alone the town derived any celebrity,
was therefore suffered to dic out. ¢ Peebles to the Play’ was extinct.
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lodged in the vault in the steeple, which being very insecure, needs to
be guarded night and day. The council order new locks and a guard
—B. R.

Dec. 9.—The members of the corporation of tailors petition the
magistrates and council to statute and ordain that the hours of working
at the houses of employers shall be from six in the morning till six in
the evening in summer, and from eight till eight in winter. Prayer of
petition granted.—B. R. This is one out of numerous entries of the
same kind, shewing the control which the council at one time exercised
over the incorporated trades. The tailors of Peebles, as in the country
parts of Scotland generally, continued to work in the houses of their
employers, for several years within the present century, when the practice
declined.

1773, Jan. 3.—Letter read from Walter Scott, writer to the signet,
Edinburgh [father of the celebrated Sir Walter], intimating a gift to the
town of /425 sterling from Sir James Cockburn, baronet (recently
appointed member), for behoof of the poor of the burgh. Mr Scott
says: ¢ It will be very convenient for you to send an order to some person
here to receive the money from me, as it is not safe trusting it with
carriers.” Thanks of the council ordered, and meal is to be bought with
the amount, and distributed among the poor.—B. K. On two occasions
afterwards, gifts of the same amount are intimated by Mr Scott; and
both times meal is purchased and distributed. From these and other
entries, it would appear that the privilege of electing a member of
parliament was uscful as an aid towards supporting the poor. At the
rate of £ 25 per burgh, Sir James Cockburn must have paid /4100, in
name of donations, at each election. But his presents were not confined
to money. 1781, Feb. 17. ¢ Provost Reid acquainted the council that
he had lately received from Mr Walter Scott, as Doer for Sir James
Cockburn, a bagpipe as a present from Sir James to the town, which
was exhibited in council.’!—2B. R.

Aug. 23.—Rev. W. Dalgleish, parish minister, is requested by the
council to desist from pasturing the churchyard with his horse and cows;
and to exclude him, a lock is placed on the gate.—2B. R.

1775, March 25.—The council have under consideration the great
nccessity there is for a hangman to reside in the town,” unanimously
agree, that if a proper person can be had, they will engage him, and give
him a proper salary over and above the fees belonging to that office.
—B. R.

! One should not too readily smile at these gifts ; for in accepting them Pecbles wat
no way singular. Until our own times, the member for Edinburgh gave a plai
of fifty guineas, to be run for at the yearly races. As derogatory alike to gt
and receiver, Mr Macaulay declined to perpetuate practices of this nature.
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the opposition, the trades, by small sums from each, contributed £14, 108
to be forwarded to the central committee in Edinburgh.—B. R. To it
great honour, the Synod of Lothian and Tweeddale refused to join in
the popular clamour, or to petition against what now all consider to have
been an act of justice and humanity.

1780, Feb. 19.—A pump-well ordered to be dug in the old town, at
the end of the Lidgate.—2B. R.

1783, Jan. 25.—The church being built, it is discovered that the
steeple, which all expected to be the pride of the town, instead of being
finely tapered, according to the plan, bulges out in a very extraordinary
way. Mr Robert Burn, architect, being sent for and consulted about it,
declares that the plan has been ‘shamefully departed from.” Unforts-
nately, the work cannot be undone and properly executed over again,
except at an expense which the contractors, two masons in the town, are
unable to encounter. Subject drops—B. R. The steeple remains an
eyesore till the present day.

1789.—Adam Peacock petitions the council to erect a snuff-mill for
him, adjoining the wauk-mill ; they decline doing so.—B. R. Peacock
was a manufacturer of tobacco in the town, and afterwards removed to
Edinburgh.

1791.—A meeting-house is built at the Gytes for a secession congre-
gation, which had existed in the town for a few years, and for which
Rev. Thomas Leckie was ordained minister in 1794-

1792.—Wild ideas about liberty and equality, projected by the
French Revolution, having reached Peebles, and affected some young
men, the council take the subject into consideration, and declare their
horror of ‘ the seditious writings and open efforts of the turbulent and
designing for the subversion of our present, and in favour of republican
government.'—5. R.

Feb. 27.—¢ William Kerr, distiller and brewer within the royalty
of Peebles,’ states by petition that he has carried on business for
several years, but is like to be ruined by the exaction of multures by the
tacksman of the town-mills, who holds him to a thirlage for all the grin
he uses. Council decline to interfere.—2B. R. This is the first time
we hear of Kerficld Brewery, which was long a flourishing concem.
Subsequently, Jan. 21, 1801, the council have brought before them the
fact that bakers in the town get their grain ground at Kerfield, to the
grecat damage of the town-mill. The subject being laid before &
eminent lawyer for his opinion, he decides that bakers in the town who
grind at Kerfield Mill are liable in the multures exigible by the tacks
man of the town-mill.—B. X. How strange to find that, within the .
present century, there was an imperative legal obligation to employ:
only the mill belonging to the burgh. *
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fees, however, a voluntary donation was made to the teacher at Candle
mas, named the * Candlemas bleeze,” a relic of an ancient usage. Pupils,
also, contributed a few pence in winter for coal

1797, April 15.—Ordered that all boys pulling up stones in the street
with suckers are to be seized, and their suckers taken from them—
B.R.

1798, March 1.—The town subscribes ;£100 ‘to support government
at this critical period."—B. R.

March 1o.—Estimates are taken for building a new prison, also for
additional arches to Tweed Bridge.—AB. 2. Both works were executad
next year. The contractor for the bridge was John Hislop, formery
town treasurer, who died from injuries received by the fall of one of the
arches. His house, which was the first to the west of the Town Hall,
shews some artistic taste.

1799, March 1.—Mr Oman, and Mr Brown, the town schoolmasters,
are to convene their scholars every Sunday morning, put them through
the catechism, and march them to church; they are also to appoint
¢ censurers’ to keep order in the church.—B. R. The practice here
referred to had fallen into disuse, and was now re-instituted in con-
formity with awakened religious feelings.

1799, March 29.—In consequence of the present disturbances in
Ireland, many Irish come to the town for the purpose of disseminating
the worst of principles ; all such suspicious persons to be apprehended
—2B. R. The town was now in great alarm about the French, and the
possibility of an invasion. In conjunction with the county, it raised a
regiment of Volunteers to support the government; and in token of
loyalty, some of the leading inhabitants of Peebles wore the Windsor
uniform, consisting of a blue coat with red collar.

July 20.—The council agree to feu Walker's Haugh, for a line of
houses at the cast end of the green, at the rate of one shilling for each
thirty-eight square yards.—B. R. Thus, for a very trifling consideratios,
Tweed-green was again injuriously limited in dimensions.

Sep. 11.—William Moffat, town drummer, who had some tme
previously resigned, is re-instated in office; being at the same time
admonished to be punctual in beating the moming and evening drum.
in which he had formerly failed to give satisfaction. As regards emolu-
ments, he is to have a salary of three (afterwards raised to four) pound-"
a year, besides fees for ad\ertlsmg by drum per tarif. He is as®
allowed to rent a vaulted apartment in the prison (the left on entcmg)-
as a dwelling-house, at a guinca a year.—2A3. R When ¢ Drummer
as he was usually styled, was first appointed to office, does not appess®= -
Within our recollection, he was an aged but tough little man, with y
turned legs—for therc were legs in those days—dressed in a miits






















































288 HISTORY OF PEEBLESSHIRE.

magistrates and council, who are escorted hither by officers in
scarlet uniform, bearing halberts, on Sunday. A clock, with
transparent dials, recently placed in the steeple, is illuminated
at night with gas. The steeple has three bells, but only on
one is there an inscription, along with the town arms. The
inscription is in Latin, and purports that the bell was cast in
1714 by Robert Maxwell, Edinburgh.

The church possesses three silver communion cups, which have
come down as an heritage since the period of Episcopacy,
previous to the Revolution, when Peebles was a rectory in union
with Manor. These cups, as appears from inscriptions in Latin
round the rim, were respectively gifted to the church. On the
first cup is the following inscription—Legato pio Alexdysi Wmfone
urbss Prefecti vigilentis, curd Fa: Wmfone a Cardrona filii a
heredis. An: S. 1684. (Translation—By the pious bequest
of Alexander Williamson, the vigilant provost of the burgh,
through the care of James Williamson, of Cardrona, his son and
heir. In the year of the Saviour 1684.) On the second cup—
Legato pio 10: GOVAN Pecblen. Edinburgi quaestor. Fidelis,
curd Mr 10 : FRANK: R: S. Scri: An: S. 1684. (Transla-
tion—By the pious bequest of John Govan, native of Peebles,
faithful trcasurer of Edinburgh; through the care of John Frank,
writer to the royal signet. In the year of the Saviour 1684.) On
the third cup—u «v vy wye M*: 10 : HAY Rectoris de Peebles o
Mener. An: S.1684. (Translation—Under this sign conquer
[The gift of] Mr John Hay, Rector of Peebles and Manor. In
the ycar of the Saviour 1684.) The church also possesses a
laver and basin, bearing to be gifts from the [first] Earl of March
Each of the vessels has the following inscription—Z/4ss Lawer
and Bason was gifted by Willia:n Earl of March, to the Kirk of
Peebles, in the year 1702. Arms of March, with the motto—
FORWARD.

By a bridge of a single arch from the New to the Old Town,
we cross Eddleston Water, or Cuddy, as it is locally termed. At
the north end of the bridge, there exists an old house called the
Virgin Inns, on the gable of which is a stonc tablet, bearing
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This open space was in the centre of Peebles before it attained
to the character of a royal burgh, or suffered from the devastating
border wars. Spreading northwards over the alluvial plain, the
town, as previously stated, extended over a much larger space
than it now occupies. and according to tradition, stretched from
the Meadow-well strand on the west, to Eddleston Water on the
east. involving within its bounds the Church of St Andrew and
the Church of the Holy Cross.

Now undistinguished. the Old Town lies on the road to Neid-
pathCatle. from which, when at its full extent, it was only about
half a2 mile distant In the present day, all is in the condition of
open fields west of the churchyard, which forms the limit of
the town in this direction. In front of the burying-ground,
pleasantly situated on the Tweed. is a villa, called Hay Lodge,
buiit on ground feued from the town in 1771, by Captain Adam
Hay of Soonhope.—B. R.

The ruins of the venerable Church of St Andrew—the church
founded by Bishop Jocelin of Glasgow in 1195—can hardly be
considered devoid of interest, for they are about the oldest archi-
tectural remains in Peeblesshire ; and the institution which once
here flourished, is noticed in charters of various kinds for several
hundreds of years. The edifice, built of the undressed hard
stone of the district, could never have possessed any external
clegance ; but it was spacious, with a tall square tower at its
west end, and contained a number of well-endowed altars, at one
of which the souls of several Scottish kings were long prayed
for. Like many nobler structures. it was stripped at the Reforma-
tion, and its revenues confiscated and dispersed. For some time
after this event, it is understood to have been used as the parish
church; and if there be any faith in legends, its roof gave shelter
to the troops of Cromwell, when laying siege to Neidpath

Abandoned as the parish church, it sunk to ruin; and, for
upwards of a century, the structure has consisted only of a few
broken walls, and the massive tower, which, knit together likea
rock, and overgrown with yellow lichen, seems to bid defiance
to all the blasts which may sweep down the Vale of Tweed for -
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At the Reformation, certain vicarage tithes connected with the
parish lapsed, with cther ecclesiastical property, into the hands of
iay impropriators. The patron of the church now gives a persoa
authority to draw a share of the vicarage tithes for his own
behoof, amounting to between £17 and £18 a year. This person
is called the ¢ Vicar of Peebles,” and is ordinarily the precentor
in the parish church The sum he levies from each house is
exceedingly small.

As in Scottish towns generally, the ecclesiastical institutions o
Pecbles have been multiplied by secession and other causes,
since 169o. Besides the Established Church, there is a Free
Church, and also two churches connected with the United Pres-
bytcrian body. In the town, there is likewise an Episcopal
chapel, and a Roman Catholic chapel. Peebles is the seat of 3
Preshytery of the Established Church, but there is no official
plice of mecting.
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usages have ertirdy vanished ; and strangers of every dass,
every token of bospitality.

The muricipal government of Pecbles has been described
as oonsisting of a coundil of seventeen members, but in virtue of
a recent statute, the number is now reduced to twelve, including 2
provost and two bailies, the whole elected by popular franchise
The proceedings of this civic corporation, as has been shewn,
were conducted for a considerable number of years under the
seal of secrecy ; but even after the cath to that effect was
dispensed with, the business of the council continued to be
performed in that unsatisfactory manner common to the Scottish
burghs generally, which at length, as arising out of an imperfect
system of nomination, led to the well-known measure of reform
in 1833 Unfortunately, the history of the town-councl o
Peebles, previous to that reconstruction, cannot but suggest
painful reflections to any one interested in the good name asd
welfare of the ancient community. Endowed with possessioss
amply sufficient for all the wants of the municipality, how have
these grand old heritages been suffered to disappear, leaving
scarcely traces of the manner of their loss or disposal! Faint
as these traces are in the imperfect records of the burgh, we
shall attempt to bring them together, and make out a coo-
nected, though not very satisfactory, narrative.

By the gifts of several Scottish sovereigns, beginning with
David 1., Peebles was invested with a number of extensive
commons, which lay all round the town, some near at hand, and
others at a distance of several miles. Valuable as pasturages for
cattle, and also for supplying turf for fuel, these commons were
assigned to the magistrates and council for the benefit of the
whole community, and properly cared for, might now, under a
system of leasing to tenants, have yielded a large annual revense
Long before James IV., however, had given his charter to the .
town, the corporation had begun to divest itself of this species of'
inhcritance. As early as 1472, the magistrates and council, for:
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the seventeenth century, the town-council committed a similar
mistake in resigning the common of Vealaw, which was alv
divided into soums, for what equivalent is unknown. In 1765,
a roll of the two classes of soum-holders is inscribed at length in
the town books,’ from which it appears that the entire number of
soums was 270, whereof sixteen pertained to Venlaw.—B. R. At
this time, the ancient practice of ‘souming and rouming’ had
been abandoned as regards both these commons, which were kt
on lease to tenant-farmers, who paid annual rents, that wee
divided among the heritors according to their respective propor-
tions. Caidmuir and Venlaw were now practically the property
of two joint-stock land companies, but with the qualification that
the management and feudal superiority remained with the town.

So far, the conduct of the magistrates and council is probably
to be viewed as an error of judgment. On what follows, a les
lenient sentence we fear will be pronounced.

According to the charters, the town had a grant of Kingsmu,
a tract of land composing the slopes east from Edderston, whid |
is believed to have, at some early period, included the whole
or part of Whitehaugh Muir, anciently the scene of the yeady |
Beltane festival. Whatever were the original dimensions of °
King’s Muir, it in time consisted only of the lands adjoining
Edderston on the west, and Frank’s Croft on the north—whih |
croft was, in all likelihood, at one time a portion of the same !
common. Thus circumscribed, King’s Muir was still a valuable
inheritance.  Left alone, this finely-situated piece of ground—
now in course of being covered with villas—might have don¢
credit to the town as a public park, or yielded a considerable
annual rental ; but such was not to be its destiny. It pleased
the council to find a reason for selling the larger portion, extend-
ing to about thirty acres, at a price which one is almost ashamed
to mention. The transaction is best described in the language
of the records.

! This roll is curious, as shewing not only who were the respectable burgesssh
the quarter of the town in which they lived, in 1765, but the names of the elgh¥
soum-holders in 1462 and 1655. It is a kind of old street-directory of Pecblm. 3




































PEEBLES—PARISH.

CCUPYING the central part of the county, this parish
extends about ten miles from north to south, and five
miles from east to west, and contains a superficies of
18,210 acres. A hilly part of the parish in the south is
included in Selkirkshire. Beginning near Cringletie, the parish
comprises the lower part of the valley of Eddleston Water, then
a section of the vale of Tweed above and below Peebles, and
lastly the stretch of level fertile land projected towards the
mountainous tract on the south; such lower portions of the
parish being backed by elevated pasture-lands, which, partly
dotted over with woods, impart shelter and amenity to Peebles.
There is no other town, nor any village, in the parish. The
lands, apart from those in and about the burgh, are possessed
by twelve proprietors, of whom five are resident. Excepting
what is covered by woods, or laid out as gardens and pleasure-
grounds, all the land is occupied as farms, some purely pastoral,
but, for the most part, of a mixed kind. Formerly, much of
the land about Peebles was in the condition of crofts of two
or three acres, belonging to burgesses who gave some attentioa
to their culture for the sake of potatoes for their families, or
fodder for their cows. There was something pleasing in the.
half-urban half-rural employment of these bonnet lairds, snd;
perhaps the circumstance of possessing such patches tended t-.
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by enclosing, draining, and those sheltering woods and planta.
tions that have sprung up through the good taste of several
proprietors. As an outpost of Tweeddale, the hilly parts of the
parish have offered favourable spots for British forts, defiant of
invaders from the borders of the Firth of Forth. Of these
ancient strengths, particularly Northshiclds and Milkiston
Rings, some account has already been given.

The most ancient name of this section of the vale of Eddleston
was Penteiacob, under which appellation, at the beginning of the
twelfth century, the lands belonged to the bishops of Glasgow.
Somewhat later, the district becomes known as Gillemoreston,
but this it did not long retain; for, previous to 1189, the lands
were granted to Eadulf, an Anglo-Saxon settler, from whom
came the present designation—Eadulf’s ton, or corruptedly,
Eddleston. Where the ton or toun® of Eadulf was placed, is
uncertain. Probably, it occupied a spot now covered by a
cluster of thatched dwellings ncar the parish church, which of
old was a prebendal dependency of the cathedral of Glasgow.
This fragmentary part of the ancicent village is situated about
the centre of the parish, on a rising ground on the east side of
the valley. The present church is a new structure, dating from
1829. It is cnvironed by a burying-ground, the best laid-out
and ncatest kept in the whole county. Beneath, on the banks
of the small river, is situated thc new village of Eddleston,
built on a regular plan, about 178s.

For nearly a century, the population of the parish has
undergonc little variation ; in 1861, it was 753. According to
the valuation roll, 1657, thc annual rental of the parish was
£327, 7s. od. sterling. In 1863, it was £8336, 19s. 44.; this
amount being cxigible chiefly as rents of the farms into which
the lands are now divided. Exclusive of those whose properties
arc valued at less than £100 per annum, there are only six
proprictors ; and of these, thrce own by far the larger portion

1 In Peeblesshire, as in some other parts of Scotland, a cluster of buildings, as, fer .
example, a farm-steading, is popularly called a foun, a signification borne out by the
original Anglo-Saxon meaning of the word.
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by Thomas Maitland, who in 1407 conveyed them to Robert
Dickison of Hutcheonfield. William Dickison, a descendant of
this person, possessed the estate in 1516, at which time it was
held of the barons of Dalswynton, on payment of three red roses,
as a reddendo. From the Dickisons, the property passed in
detachments to the Stewarts of Traquair about 1533. A century
later, the Stewarts held the lands from Lord Garlies, Earl of
Galloway, and the reddendo was one red rose. After this, the
superiority was conjoined with the property, and the estate was
henceforth held immediately from the crown, with the same
delivery, however, of a red rose annually; and the whole
was annexed to, and comprehended within, the barony of
Traquair.

In 1789, the trustees of Charles, seventh Earl of Traquair, sold
Ormiston to John Scott, writer to the Signet, for £8400. Now
begins the improvement of the lands. Scott planted some belts
of larch, and extended the area of cultivation. In 1808, his heirs
disposed of the lands to William Hunter for £9910. From this
time, the property was called Glenormiston. Hunter must have
been a man of fine taste. He was the great improver of the
place, and all -he did was admirable. He laid out the lands in
distinct and finely shaped fields, raised plantations, built a farm-
steading, and erected the present commodious mansion. The
only thing to be spoken of with regret respecting his régime, was
the removal of the old fortalice. Mr Hunter died in possession,
and in 1824 his trustees sold the estatc to William Steuart
for £24,0000 By Mr Steuart, the lands were drained and
otherwise improved, additional planting was effected, a new and
spacious garden was madc, and pavilion wings were added to
the mansion. These various operations are understood to have
cost £10,000. In 1849, Mr Steuart disposed of the property to
William Chambers for £25,500* Again, there was an effort

! Glenormiston Papers.
? Mr Chambers, as alrcady stated (p. 289), is a native of Peebles, where ¥s
ancestors, in the rank of burgesses and small proprietors, can be traced for sevesl

centuries.  For any additional facts, reference is made to the well-known work, M |
of the Tim., also to Vapereau's Dictionnaire des Contemporains (Paris, 1858).
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reflected upon till it had become with him a kind of monomania. Scott
disavowed the possession of any gifts of that kind, evidently to the great
disappointment of the inquirer, who then tumed round and gave a
signal 0 a huge black cat, hitherto unobserved, which immediately
jumped up to a shelf, where it perched itself, and seemed to the excited
senses of the visitors as if it had really been the familiar spirit of the
mansion. ‘He has poo'er,’ said the dwarf, in a voice which made the
flesh of the hearers thrill, and Scott, in particular, looked as if he
conceived himself to have actually got into the den of one of those
magicians with whom his studies had rendered him familiar. Ay, 4e has
poo'er,’ repeated the recluse ; and then, going to his usual seat, he sat
for some minutes grinning horribly, as if enjoying the impression he had
made ; while net a word escaped from any of the party. Mr Ferguson
at length plucked up his spirits, and called to David to open the door,
as they must now be going. The dwarf slowly obeyed ; and when they
had got out, Mr Ferguson observed that his friend was as pale as ashes,
while his person was agitated in every limb. Under such striking
circumstances was this extraordinary being first presented to the ra/
magician, who was afterwards to give him such a deathless ceiebrity.

David’s cottage falling into disrepair about the year 1802, Sir James
Nasmyth kindly ordered a new one to be erected for him and his sister,
but with a division-wall to separate the dwellings. Here he lived tll
the period of his death, in 1811. His sister survived him some years
While he resided in the cottage, it was covered with thatch ; latterly,
the roof has been renewed with slates. The interior remains much as it
was left by the recluse. David was buried in the churchyard of Manar,
about half a mile distant. His grave was long undistinguished, except
by a small mountain-ash, which had been planted by some friendly hand
More definitely to mark the spot, a stone with a simple inscription was
sct up in 1845.

Besides the monument at the grave of the Black Dwarf, the
churchyard contains some old tombstones with inscriptions
worthy of notice. We copy the two following :

On the tombstone of William Ritchie, tenant in Woodhouse, who
died 1737, and his family :

¢ Oh, that the dead might speak, and in a strain
To charm each death-form’d doubt, and heartfelt pain !
Might tell the timid sons of vital breath,
IHow soft and easy is the bed of death !
Might from this moral truth rich comfort give,
That man but lives to die, and dies to live.’






























DRUMMELZIER AND TWEEDSMUIR.

RUMMELZIER is a parish of considerable extent, situated
west from Manor, and lying chiefly on the east bank of
the Tweed ; a portion west of that river being the strath
and lands of Kingledoors! At one time, the parish compre-
hended Tweedsmuir, which was disjoined from it in 1643
Thus reduced in dimensions, it was augmented by incorporating
Dawick, which was suppressed in 1742. Bordering on the Tweed,
opposite Stobo and Glenholm, the parish is noted for an extensive
alluvial plain, called the Plain of Drummelzier, which, about
two miles in length, is said to be the largest level space on the
river above Kelso. Excepting this fine arable plain, and a few
other spots in the lower grounds, the parish is a pastoral region,
embracing those huge brown hills which, after rising to a great
height, slope in an opposite direction towards Manor and
Megget. '

Reaching this parish, we are in the ancient territory of the
Tweedics and their unfortunate victims, the Veitches. In the
present day, all is tranquil—the land divided into farms, the scene
of peaceful industry, or laid out in woods and pleasure-grounds,

! Superficies, 18,029.449 acres.—Ord. Sur. In 1861, the population was 85§

Valued rental in 1863, £3477, 18s. 11d. The name of the parish, which s -
nounced Drumellyer, is supposed to mean the ‘dwelling on the ridge.”






















































STOBO.

TOBO parish is situated partly on the right, but principally

on the left, bank of the Tweed, extending from the Lyne

on the north to Holm’s Water on the south.! Anciently, it
embraced the whole of the upper section of the Tweed, and
possessed a peculiar civil and ecclesiastical status. It formeda
manor of the Bishop of Glasgow, and as such, was connected
with the regality of that see. The cure was a vicarage of the
same episcopate, held by a prebend of Glasgow, and subordinate
to it were the chapelries or pendicles of Lyne, Dawick, Drum-
melzier, Tweedsmuir, Broughton, and perhaps also Glenholm
and Kingledoors. George Chalmers sarcastically remarks, that
‘ the rights to the manor of Stobo have been as fiercely contested
as the sovereignty of Scotland.’* Disputes on this subject were
followed, in the beginning of the thirteenth century, by the
famous contest respecting the ‘Marches of Stobo,” or boundaries
of its ecclesiastical polity. The matter being referred to an
inquest of ‘neighbours,” they gave a decision which was confirmed
by Alexander II. in 1223. The only interest now entertained
respecting the case is in the list of the persons concerned,
which, being preserved in the Registers of the Archbishopric of

! Superficies, 10,373.715 acres.—Ord. Sur. In 1861, population 478 Vi
rental in 1863, £4206, os. 2d. §
3 Caledonia, vol. ii. p. 954.














































































LINTCN AND NEWLANDS

INSTON. ar WEST-LI¥TTN. 33 it is sometimes called for the
salee of distncton. is 3 ‘arge parish. forming the north-

west coraer af Zie county.” The comparatively high-valued
reatal. noted teicw. mdicates the superior character of the parish,
much of which. on the north. consists of the hill-pasturages lying
ca the borders of Mixd-Lothian ; the remainder comprehending
fine arable [ands m the lower or southern section, adjoining the
taala of the Lyne Linton s not an uncommon name It
signifies the towa ca the poel or wazer ; bat this Linton was, as
early as the twelth ceatury. kmown in a spectal manner as
Linton-Roderick cr Ratherick. probably from the name of the
principal lancholder in the district.  Until the Reformation, the
church of Linton-Roderick was a vicarage of the abbey of Kelso
For coavenience, we take along with Linton the adjoining
parish of Newlands® Both form the upper valley of the small
river Lyne and its tributaries, and both constitute a district on
the southern base of the Pentland Hills, separated in a consider-
able degree from the valley of the Tweed. Partaking somewhat
of the geological character of Mid-Lothian, and some portions
of them possessing lime, coal, and sandstone, they partially
! Superficies, 23,420.82; acres—Ord. Swr. In 1861, population 1534. m
rental in 1863, £10,170, 7s. 9d.

? Superficies, 12,560.¢% acres—Ord. Swr. In 1851, population 987
rental in 1863, £8933, 1s. 44.
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Hay Forbes, advocate, from Sir Thomas Gibson-Carmichael
The price of Slipperfield was £8goo. Mr Forbes, the purchaser
of this and some other lands, was second son of Sir William
Forbes, Baronet,' and, esteemed as a lawyer, was raised to the
bench with the title of I.ord Medwyn. This amiable man, whose
whole life, like that of his father, was a succession of acts of
public usefulness, was succeeded in the property by his eldest
son, William Forbes, advocate, now in possession, who occupies
the office of Secretary of the General Board of Commissioners in
Lunacy for Scotland. The original Medwyn estate was increased
in 1849, by the purchase of Bridgehouse, the same which, under
the name Brighouse, belonged to ¢ James Wedderspuine,' one
of the Peeblesshire gentry charged with complicity in the
murder of David Rizzio. Bridgehouse cost £4200° In 1855,a
further addition was made by the purchase of the Linton estate
from Sir Adam Hay, at the price of £12,500® Mr Forbes has
latterly made some other additions, but of a minor kind, near
Linton, at which St Mungo’s Episcopal chapel has been built
and maintained chiefly by his means. On various parts of the
aggregated property, great improvements have been effected
by draining, planting, and building, on which not less than
£12,000 have becn expended; the consequence being that

! Sir William Forbes, sixth baronet of Pitsligo, was born in 1739, and deriving but
a slender provision from his father, resolved by frugality and industry to retrieve, if
possible, the fortunes of his family ; in which resolution he was eminently successfal.
The career of Sir William was accordingly one of a very noble and exemplary kind
The business he adopted was that of banking, for which he was apprenticed to Messrs
Coutts of Edinburgh, in 1754. For his accommodation, his mother, Lady Forbes.
removed to a small house in Forrester’s Wynd, consisting only of a single floor; but
even in this humble dwelling, she preserved a dignified and respectable independence,
and was visited by persons of distinction. Sir William’s apprenticeship was for seven
years, at the end of which period, he acted for two years as a clerk; and from his
excellent abilities, he was adopted as a partner in 1761. \When Messrs Coutts’ cos-
nection with Edinburgh ccased, a new firm was established, in which Sir Wilkam
Forbes was the principal member. In 1770, he married Elizabeth, eldest daughter of
Dr, afterwards Sir James Hay of Haystoun. Sir William’s public life connected with
Edinburgh is well known ; as a literary man, he gained reputation by his Life of B¢
Beattie. He died in 1806. Ilis title and estates are now enjoyed by his grandson, & .
John Stuart Forbes. '

* Medwyn Papers. 3 Ibid.






















































































































































































































































548 HISTORY OF PEEBLESSHIRE.

MEMBERS OF PARLIAMENT ¥OR THE UNITED COUNTY AND BURGH oOF
PEEBLES.

1832. Sir John Hay of Smithfield and Haystoun, Baronet.
1837. William Forbes Mackenzie of Portmore.

1841. The same.

1847. The same.

1852. Sir Graham Graham Montgomery of Stanhope, Baronet.
1857. The same.

1859. The same.

NoTE.—As neither the county nor the burgh possesses an official record of repre-
sentatives since the Union till the present time, we have drawn on the lists contained
in the work entitled ke Political State of Scotland, with Representation in Parii ¢
JSrom 1707 to 1832, by John Wilson of Thornley (London, 1833), also on such local
information as could be made available. So completed, the foregoing lists may, we
think, be relied on for their general accuracy. In the work just specified, notice is taken
of the number of individuals composing the constituency previous to 1832. As regards
the burgh constituency, it consisted of the members of four town-councils, amounting in
the aggregate to 94 persons, of whom 17 were for Peebles. The constituency of the
county of Peebles amounted in 1812 to 41, and in 1830 %0 46 persons. In 1863, as
previously mentioned, the united burgh and county constituency numbered 466,
whereof g7 resided out of the county. A register made up annually, and printed in a
lucid manner in terms of the Registration of Voters (Scotland) Act, 24 and 25
Victoria, cap. 83, is obtainable at the sheriff-clerk’s office (price 2s. 6d).

SKIRLING FaIrs.

Public notice has been given that the June and September fairs
formerly held at Skirling, will in future be held at Biggar. The June fair
for horses, cattle, and pigs, will be held on the first Thursday after the
11th; and the September fair for horses, cattle, slack ewes, and dairy-
produce, will be held on 15th September, or Thursday following.
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